The Configurational Perspective in Organizational Psychology: Fuzzy Sets for Novel Insights

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.) des Fachbereichs Humanwissenschaften der Universität Osnabrück

vorgelegt von

Alexander Meier

aus Lichtenstein

Osnabrück, 2017

Table of Contents

Abst	ract4				
1.	Introduction5				
	1.1. Theoretical Background of the Configurational Perspective10				
	1.2. Unique Features of FsQCA13				
	1.3. Current Challenges to FsQCA14				
	1.3.1. The Calibration Procedure of FsQCA18				
2.	The Presented Research				
	2.1. Overview				
	2.2. Study 1: Managing the Complexity of Organisational Commitment: A Fuzzy				
	Set Approach				
	2.3. Study 2: A Configurational Perspective on the Theory of Planned Behaviour				
	to Understand Employees' Change-Supportive Intentions24				
	2.4. Study 3: Connecting the Dots of Fuzzy Sets and Regression: A Simulation				
	Study for Survey Data				
3.	General Discussion				
	3.1. Summary of Results and Study-Specific Implications				
	3.2. General Implications for Research and Practice				
	3.3. General Limitations and Future Directions				
	3.4. Outlook				
4.	References41				

Figures

Figure	1: Summary	of the studies	included in the	presented research	
1 19010	1. Southing	or the states		presented researements	········

Abstract

This dissertation aims to apply the configurational perspective to organizational surveys. The studies included in this dissertation demonstrate that an increasingly popular configurational method can be applied to large dataset sizes similar to organizational surveys. This method is called fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis (fsQCA). Additionally, the incremental insights of fsQCA are illustrated by taking traditional methods into comparison. At the same time, the presented research addresses current methodological challenges to fsQCA in order to shed light on its application in the context of organizational surveys and to reduce reasons inhibiting researchers to use this method. The first study conceptualized and empirically investigated differently complex interplays of core manageable factors predicting and influencing high levels of affective commitment. Specifically, the results indicate that job design, organizational treatment, leadership, and recognition were consistently found to be essential in terms of incremental, relative, and configurational importance for the management of affective commitment. The second study aims to deepen the understanding of the formation of change-supportive intentions by adopting a configurational perspective. Investigating the theory of planned behavior in a longitudinal setting, the results suggest the combination of high change-related attitude and high change-related perceived behavioral control as the most consistent and reliable solution for fostering high change-supportive intentions. Both the first and second study addressed methodological challenges by adopting robustness tests for large-N fsQCA to increase trustworthiness and reduce sensitivity of the results. Additionally, as required for fsQCA data preparation, recommendations for thresholds were made and different calibration techniques investigated. The third study connects these two studies by performing a simulation on artificial small-N and large-N datasets comparing regression analysis, fsQCA, and its different calibration techniques. In particular, new insights on the joint use of both methods and methodological recommendations on the calibration of fsQCA could be given. In sum, the presented research highlights the applicability of fsQCA to organizational surveys and that a configurational approach can further enrich the understanding of organizations and organizational life.

Keywords: organizational survey, fsQCA, configuration, fuzzy set, large-N, affective commitment, change-supportive intentions, organizational change, simulation

Thesis supervisor: Prof. Dr. Karsten Müller

1. Introduction

In the dynamic world of the current Information Age, the increase of complexity in organizations and organizational life has become indisputable. For example, in terms of scale alone, the worldwide largest organization in 1955 and 2011 rose from 624,000 employees in a single country to 2.1 million employees working in over 15 countries, respectively (Suddaby, Hardy, & Huy, 2011). Over the last years, organizational researchers have increasingly acknowledged and attempted to account for this complexity, specifically the configurational nature of organizational phenomena (e.g., Desarbo, Di Benedetto, Song, & Sinha, 2005; Marlin, Ketchen, & Lamonst, 2007; Siggelkow 2001, 2002; Suddaby et al., 2011). A configurational perspective is particularly apt to cope with complexity by placing the focus on "understanding how distinct characteristics jointly cause an outcome" (Cambré, Fiss, & Marx, 2013, p. 312). Some researchers even argued that the concept of configurations probably is "...one of the central ideas of organization studies, stemming back to the writings of founding fathers such as Max Weber (1922[1978])." (Fiss, Marx, & Cambré, 2013, p. 2).

One reason for this concept's appeal is that social and organizational phenomena seem unlikely to be explained by single and isolated factors (e.g., Kent, 2009; Siggelkow, 2002). Instead, they are likely to interact and create configurations with complex interdependencies relating to a certain criterion (Fiss, 2011), such as turnover intention. Hence, the configurational perspective offers considerable potential for organizational research (e.g., Short, Payne, & Ketchen, 2008), for understanding people, groups, and organizations (Meyer, Tsui, & Hinings, 1993), and thus for organizational psychology.

Despite the importance of configurations and the new insights they may allow, configurational theory seems to be one of the least understood facets in organizational research (Fiss et al., 2013). Although configurational thinking is not entirely new and often addressed by applying variable-centered methods such as regression analysis with interaction terms, there is a recent trend to turn to case-centered methods for studying configurations (e.g., Berger, 2016; Fiss, 2007). Over the last years, numerous studies examining configurations with case-centered methods have been conducted, for example in the field of business and management research (e.g., Campbell, Sirmon, & Schijven, 2016; Fiss, 2011; Misangyi & Acharya, 2014). However, such studies are still scarce in the area of organizational psychology.

In this field, research is mostly conducted with organizational surveys (Kraut, 1996; Rogelberg, 2002) that are often analyzed by linear, additive methods, such as regression analysis. Yet, methods beyond linear analyses are considered a better fit for examining complex interdependencies (Ragin, 1987, 2000, 2008). Moreover, studying complex relationships in the context of organizational surveys was demanded in a number of studies, on topics such as change readiness (Oreg, Vakola, & Armenakis, 2011), organizational behavior (Short et al., 2008), or organizational performance (Fiss, 2011). Although a few non-organizational surveys were previously investigated by configurational approaches (e.g., Cooper, 2005; Ragin, 2006), the configurational perspective on typical organizational surveys using Likert scales is still missing. In fact, Likert scales are very well-suited for organizational surveys due to their affective measurement and thus commonly used in organizational surveys by configurational methods seems to have a high potential to provide new insights into organizations that could help grasping the complex nature of organizations and organizational life.

Over the last decades, a few configurational methods were introduced that hold promise for their application to surveys. For example, latent profile analysis (LPA; Lazarsfeld & Henry, 1968) has increasingly received attention in marketing and psychological research (Tein, Coxe, & Cham, 2013). By defining subgroups or profiles of data, LPA has configurational properties, but may fall short in analyzing organizational surveys when the relation to a specific outcome is required. A slightly more promising approach, called qualitative comparative analysis (QCA), was developed and revised by Ragin (1987, 2000, 2008). In contrast to LPA, QCA is able to, for example, explicitly analyze asymmetric effects and determine the relative importance of variables. However, the unique properties of QCA will be explained in more detail in the next chapter.

The family of configurational approaches has gained popularity in several research areas for investigating complex interdependencies (Rihoux, Álamos-Concha, Bol, Marx, & Rezsöhazy, 2013). In particular, the subform fuzzy set QCA (fsQCA) is an approach that is even finer-grained than QCA. Instead of resting on an additive, linear attribute, it identifies the relationships and interdependencies of multiple factors relating to a certain criterion (Fiss, 2011). In contrast to correlational methods, fsQCA enables the exploration of more complex interdependent constellations, equifinality (i.e., multiple pathways to similar outcome), and asymmetric effects. Moreover, this approach is still able to maintain interpretability and transparency, which would not be guaranteed by, for example, machine learning approaches such as neural networks. One problem with these is that algorithms such as deep neural networks compute information across multiple hidden layers of artificial neurons that quickly

reach the point where the computational process becomes untraceable for researchers. Hence, it is rather unsurprising that the configurational approach is often preferred by many research areas. FsQCA has been applied in a broad range of research areas such as environmental research (e.g., Pahl-Wostl & Knieper, 2014), healthcare (e.g., Eng & Woodside, 2012; Longest & Thoits, 2012), education (e.g., Cooper, 2005; Olufadi, 2015), social and political sciences (e.g., Ragin, 2008; Rihoux & Marx, 2013; Vis, 2012), marketing (e.g., Feurer, Baumbach, & Woodside, 2016; Kent & Argouslidis, 2005), and in particular in management and organizational research (e.g., Aversa, Furnari, & Haefliger, 2015; Bell, Filatotchev, & Aguilera, 2014; Campbell, Sirmon, & Schijven, 2016; Crilly, 2011; Crilly, Zollo, & Hansen, 2012; Garcia-Castro & Francoeur, 2014; Grandori & Furnari, 2008; Greckhamer, 2011, 2016; Meuer, 2014; Misangyi & Acharya, 2014; Pajunen, 2008). On top of these, fsQCA has recently found application in psychological research (Su, Chiang, Lee, & Chang, 2016; Xie & Jia, 2016) and on Likert-type survey data (Emmenegger, Schraff, & Walter, 2014; Whittington, McKee, Goodwin, & Bell, 2013). In summary, fsQCA seems to be a well-suited tool for configurational analyses in an organizational context, but still appears not fully established for the application on organizational surveys.

One possible reason for the rather reserved application of fsQCA to survey data may be the original design of QCA. Its initial purpose was to solely analyze small-N to medium-N data, i.e. 12-50 cases (Greckhamer, Misangyi, & Fiss, 2013), in order to maintain in-depth knowledge about each case. This method was then further improved and extended (e.g., Ragin, 2000, 2008; Schneider & Wagemann, 2010, 2012; Fiss, 2011) enabling the application to large-N data (e.g., Bell et al., 2014; Campbell et al., 2016; Garcia-Castro & Francoeur, 2014; Misangyi & Acharya, 2014; Ordanini, Parasuraman, & Rubera, 2014). However, this transition results in the loss of in-depth knowledge in large-N settings similar to other quantitative methods such as regression analysis or LPA.

Despite this tradeoff, fsQCA's unique properties could still offer new insights into large datasets. In this respect, an extensive guide on the transition from small-N to large-N settings was published by Greckhamer et al. (2013). Thus, over the last years, fsQCA has been refined to cope with and successfully shown to analyze dataset sizes that are typical for organizational surveys (e.g., Rihoux & Marx, 2013; Schneider & Wagemann, 2012). Surveys often share the common aim to assess a variety of variables, analyze sample characteristics, and most often to examine relationships between these survey variables. In particular, identifying these relationships in the form of configurations and reflecting complex interdependencies may allow analyzing survey data from a new perspective.

Based on set-theoretic assumptions, fsQCA takes on the configurational perspective that allows analyzing interdependencies between multiple variables. Specifically, fsQCA has three unique characteristics. First, it allows the prediction of a certain criterion based on a complex configurational pattern of other survey variables. Hence, fsQCA goes beyond simple interactions and assumes that the value of an outcome is related to different, identifiable patterns of variables. Second, as a consequence, an outcome of interest can be explained through different and separate pathways, called equifinality (Katz & Kahn, 1978). That is, high levels of a criterion could be related to more than one pattern of variables, which could potentially relate to, for example, different demographic subsets. This has high practical relevance, as it helps to identify design choices for specialized interventions. Third, the settheoretic understanding of the relationship of configurations and their corresponding outcomes enables the identification of possible asymmetric effects (Ragin, 2008). That is, factors contributing to high levels of an outcome might be different from those connected to lacking high levels of that outcome. Hence, fsQCA could provide supplemental insights into organizational phenomena in addition to, for instance, correlational analyses. For example, Fiss (2011) obtained configurations of eight variables associated with very high performance of organizations. Whereas regression with interaction terms quickly reaches its limits above three variables (e.g., Grofman & Schneider, 2009; Kam & Franzese, 2007), fsQCA offers a complementary understanding of the more complex interdependencies related to very high performance.

In spite of the complementary properties of fsQCA, a few challenges to its application remain. First, although fsQCA was successfully applied to large-N data, it is still a contested issue due to its original development for small-N data. However, the presented studies show that fsQCA can reliably and successfully be employed to large-N data by, for example, dividing the data into subsamples or relating the results to other methods. Second, the robustness of the method has not been completely clarified, yet. That is, fsQCA may be sensitive to slight changes to, for example, thresholds or other parameters, that weaken the trustworthiness of the results. A first promising attempt was proposed by Emmenegger et al. (2014). Their robustness test was implemented in two of the presented studies in order to ensure trustworthiness. Third, fsQCA requires the calibration of data into fuzzy sets by substantive and theoretical knowledge. Fuzzy sets are continuous values between 1 and 0 that are assigned according to anchor points. These anchor points could be based on specific Likert points (e.g., 1, 4, and 7), i.e. absolute calibration, or percentiles of data (e.g., 25th, 50th, and 75th), i.e. relative calibration. Specifically in the case of Likert scales, most studies

used an absolute calibration approach (e.g., Meuer, 2014; Mikalef, Pappas, & Giannakos, 2016; Ordanini et al., 2014), whereas some studies utilized a relative calibration instead (e.g., Palacios-Marques, Roig-Dobón, & Comeig, 2017; Veríssimo, 2016; Whittington et al., 2013). Even though it can be argued that Likert scales are tied to psychometric theory and that the points can represent meaningful thresholds, a relative calibration seems to be an alternative due to, for example, known tendencies towards positive values on Likert scales in survey research (e.g., Braunscheidel, Suresh, & Boisnier, 2010; McCarty & Shrum, 2000). Even for the absolute calibration of Likert scales, studies adjusted the thresholds according to such tendencies (Emmenegger et al., 2014; Ordanini et al., 2014) or means (Cheng, Cai, & Jin, 2016). Additionally, the relative calibration of Likert scales has only recently been applied in the context of business research (Veríssimo, 2016). Given these different approaches and missing clear calibration guidelines, researchers could be easily confused when calibrating organizational survey data. Therefore, the presented research sheds light on the different calibration techniques and makes suggestions specifically in regard to Likert scales.

Taken together, the general purpose of this dissertation is to take on the configurational perspective and demonstrate the applicability of fsQCA to large datasets of organizational surveys. The incremental insights gained by this approach are illustrated by taking traditional methods into comparison. These methods include regression analysis, relative importance, and LPA. In this context, current methodological challenges are addressed and solutions suggested, such as for the calibration manner and fsQCA robustness. Hence, this dissertation intends to deepen the methodological understanding of fsQCA and simultaneously foster its application in the field of organizational psychology and survey research. Future studies can build on this research to further refine fsQCA in the context of organizational surveys and analyze the complex interdependencies salient in organizational life.

The next section of this dissertation will introduce the theoretical background of the configurational perspective and is followed by demonstrating the unique features of fsQCA. In the section that follows, the current challenges of fsQCA will be addressed with a particular focus on its calibration procedures. Building on this knowledge, this dissertation will present three studies. The first study is concerned with how relevant factors in managing affective commitment interplay in their relation to affective commitment. For this purpose, it applies the methods multiple regression analysis, relative importance analysis, and fsQCA

using a relative calibration approach. The second study addresses the question of whether employees' change-related attitudes, perceived behavioral control (PBC), and subjective norms – either individually or in specific configurations – are involved in the formation of employees' change-supportive intentions. In this case, multiple regression analysis and LPA are compared to fsQCA using an absolute calibration approach at two time points in an organizational change process. Finally, the third study picks up on the insights of the first two studies by addressing remaining challenges. In a simulation with artificially created datasets in the form of organizational surveys, multiple regression analysis, fsQCA, as well as two different calibration approaches of fsQCA are compared. Subsequently, a comprehensive discussion and a summary of the most important insights of the presented studies will be given. These are followed by a discussion of general implications for research and practice, general limitations, and conclude with several ideas for future research.

1.1. Theoretical Background of the Configurational Perspective

As discussed above, the configurational approach has a lot of potential in organizational research by helping to grasp complex interdependencies and offering a fresh perspective on organizations and organizational life (e.g., Fiss et al., 2013; Meyer et al., 1993). Although the concept of configurations was determined as one of the least understood facets in organization theory (Fiss et al., 2013), recent developments encourage a change for the better. In fact, configurational approaches increasingly drew attention in various research areas (Rihoux et al., 2013) and specifically in the field of management and organizations over the last years (e.g., Aversa et al., 2015; Bell et al., 2014; Campbell et al., 2016; Garcia-Castro & Francoeur, 2014; Greckhamer, 2016). Moreover, existing configurational methods have been improved and advanced lately (e.g., Emmenegger et al., 2014; Rihoux & Marx, 2013; Schneider & Wagemann, 2012), whereas additionally novel tools for the analysis of configurations were introduced (e.g., Baumgartner, 2009; Baumgartner & Epple, 2014). QCA even entered the phase of mainstreaming in a few disciplines (Rihoux et al., 2013) that promises a further refinement of this configurational method in the next years. Thus, configurations are still a current and perhaps even flourishing topic that has the potential to become more and more popular in research and practice.

From a methodological perspective, various tools for the analysis of configurations exist. Although just briefly addressed in this dissertation, LPA and CNA are possible alternatives for analyzing configurations beside QCA. On the one hand, LPA is a probabilistic variant of typical clustering methods that aims to identify hidden subgroups of cases (Lazarsfeld & Henry, 1968). These groups are differentiated by patterns of interrelated variables that do not overlap and are discrete as well as exhaustive (Tein et al., 2013). However, beside the advantages of QCA explained in the following, LPA misses an explicit outcome-orientation. On the other hand, CNA is based on QCA utilizing a different optimization algorithm that is supposed to ease the analysis of data in contrast to QCA (Baumgartner, 2009). Additionally, chain-like causal dependencies among the conditions of an ultimate outcome are a supplementary feature. However, CNA has not found its path to organizational research, yet. One reason might be the easier application of QCA due to available tools and skepticism against the promoted causality property of CNA. In contrast, the rapidly increasing number of publications (Rihoux et al., 2013) and the wide variety of studies over the last years (e.g., Campbell et al., 2016; Dul, 2016; Veríssimo, 2016; Woodside, Prentice, & Larsen, 2015) suggest that methods of the QCA family are currently a more promising tool to analyze configurations. Therefore, the presented research mainly focuses on the application of QCA, whereas Study 2 took LPA into the comparison as well.

Originally designed by Ragin (1987), QCA is a systematic, case-centered, and settheoretic method that has the potential to detect complex relationships in data. In particular, QCA aims to identify all possible case types that need to be investigated for the hypothesis. Contrary to classical statistical methods, the data is understood as sets with conditions and qualitative outcomes instead of independent and dependent variables, respectively (Ragin, 2008). With the help of this set-theoretic tool, it is possible to study multiple solution pathways and interdependencies between conditions and outcomes. One challenge posed by applying QCA is to convince researchers to shift away from "net effects" thinking of such variables and focus on how configurations of variables associate with an outcome (Ragin, 2008). In this context, QCA minimizes the inferences to so called "prime implicants" by the Quine-McCluskey algorithm. That is, the configuration of conditions cannot be further combined with another configuration to eliminate a condition. For this reason, set-theoretic methods like QCA are remarkably fitting for testing configurational theory. In addition, such methods also become interesting to organizational and strategy research, because configurations are viewed as different types of cases instead of considering cases as independent aspects.

Based on the procedure of minimizing inferences, QCA can produce complex, intermediate, and parsimonious solutions. The difference between the complex and parsimonious solution lies in the treatment of the remainders. Remainders are combinations

of conditions that do not have enough empirical evidence, i.e. they do not reach the frequency threshold. In other words, not enough cases apply to a combination to make a meaningful statement about their outcome. Concerning the complex solution, the remainders are set to "false", i.e. they are completely excluded from the analysis. Considering the parsimonious solution, the remainders are set to "don't care", i.e. they are included for minimizing inferences of non-remainders if necessary. The intermediate solution represents the complex solution potentially reduced post hoc by substantive and theoretical knowledge of the researcher. Even though Ragin (2008) recommended to present intermediate solutions, the indepth knowledge of each case would usually not be trustworthy enough in large-N studies to decide about the relevance of individual conditions. In recent years, it was argued that the complex solution may be misleading (Cooper & Glaesser, 2016) or even be false for analyzing causal relationships (Baumgartner, 2015). Hence, the transparent presentation and interpretation of both complex and parsimonious solutions becomes imperative for evaluating the results.

Essentially, QCA can be divided into three types: crisp set QCA, multi-valued QCA, and fsQCA. They mainly differ in how values are assigned to an interval between one and zero, i.e. the calibration process. Whereas crisp sets can only take dichotomous values, fuzzy sets can take any value in the interval from 0 to 1, thus being the most fine-grained approach. This is specifically useful in the context of organizational surveys in order to reflect the diversity of survey responses. Multi-valued QCA ranks between these two and is often rejected for fsQCA. For completeness and at least worth mentioning, two rarely applied subforms exist, called temporal QCA (tQCA; Caren & Panofsky, 2005) and two-step QCA (Schneider & Wagemann, 2003), but they could not establish themselves in, for example, organizational and management research. Moreover, the Theory-Guided/Enhanced Standard Analysis proposed by Schneider and Wagemann (2012, 2013) was supposed to replace QCA and seemed to ascend as the new state-of-the-art procedure by applied researches (e.g., Thomann, 2015), but was heavily criticized (Thiem, 2016). In contrast, fsQCA has still received increasing attention and has been applied in numerous studies, as mentioned before. Furthermore, fsQCA has been extended for the analysis of large-N data (Ragin, 2000, 2008; Schneider & Wagemann, 2010; Greckhamer et al., 2013) and since been progressively applied due to its advantages to study complex configurations. Therefore, considering the complexity of organizational life, fsQCA promises to be the currently best fitting configurational method for analyzing large-N organizational surveys.

1.2. Unique Features of FsQCA

As a set-theoretic method, fsQCA basically possesses five unique properties that are supplementary to correlational methods beside studying configurational patterns. First, an outcome of interest can be associated with different and separate combinations of conditions and various pathways, i.e. equifinality (Katz & Kahn, 1978). In other words, more than one pattern of conditions could constitute high levels of a certain criterion. These patterns could consist of different subgroups, such as managers and employees. For example, in the context of organizational commitment, the combination of coworker satisfaction and transformational leadership could similarly contribute to high levels of organizational commitment as the combination of coworker satisfaction and job satisfaction. The identification of equifinal pathways has high practical relevance by helping to identify design or strategy choices for interventions or implementations, for example in organizational change (Weiner, 2009).

Second, based on the logic of set-theory, fsQCA conditions can be differentiated and understood in terms of necessity and sufficiency regarding an outcome of interest. For example, if high levels of change-supportive intentions only occur when a positive attitude is present, then positive attitude is likely a necessary condition and hence a superset of intentions. However, positive attitude is thought to be sufficient for intentions, if positive attitude is directly related to and thus a subset of high levels of intentions. Hence, sufficient conditions or configurations can deliver different strategies that foster intentions, whereas necessary conditions indicate the groundwork to build on for amplifying intentions.

Third, understanding the relationship of configurations and its outcome in terms of necessity and sufficiency entails the possibility of identifying asymmetric effects (Ragin, 2008). Specifically, the presence and the absence of an outcome are treated in separate analyses. The idea behind asymmetric effects is that the factors contributing to high levels of an outcome might be different from factors related to a particular lack of high levels of that outcome. For example, in the context of organizational commitment, this would imply that factors contributing to high levels of commitment might differ from factors inhibiting high commitment. This is contrary to the symmetric nature of correlations. For example, modeling the inverse of commitment in a correlational analysis only changes the sign of the coefficients, but does not reveal differential patterns of factors that relate to high or lack of high levels of commitment. Therefore, if such asymmetric effects exist, interventions for fostering commitment might be different from interventions avoiding a lack of commitment.

Fourth, fsQCA is able to incorporate the concept of core and periphery (Fiss, 2011). To some degree, the core-periphery model can determine the relative importance of conditions. In particular, the evidence for core conditions suggests a strong relationship with the outcome of interest, whereas the relationship between peripheral conditions and the outcome of interest is weaker (Fiss, 2011). Apparently, the cognitive ability to categorize is better understood in relation to a conceptual structure comprised of core and peripheral classifications (e.g., Hunn, 1982; Rosch, 1983). Moreover, the core-periphery model was already used in a number of studies (e.g., Pfeffer, 1976; Lyles & Schwenk, 1992; Borgatti & Everett, 2000). From a methodological perspective, core conditions can be identified by analyzing the data according to the complex as well as the parsimonious solution. Configurations or single conditions can be labeled core conditions, if they similarly result in both complex and parsimonious solutions. Every other configuration or single condition is considered as peripheral. Thus, the core-periphery model is suitable for determining the most important conditions in the resulting configurations.

Finally, the perhaps biggest advantage of fsQCA particularly compared to other QCA methods lies in the fine-grained calibration. However, the calibration can simultaneously be viewed as its biggest challenge. If guidelines or an appropriate rationale behind the calibration is missing, an improper calibration can compromise the analysis right from the beginning. Still, the calibration to fuzzy sets enables the researcher to influence the analysis based on well-founded theoretical knowledge. The researcher can thus cope with data that have very low variance or strong positive tendencies on Likert scales resulting from, for example, cultural differences of respondents. Additionally, the diversity of survey responses can be properly reflected in contrast to, for instance, crisp set QCA. Beside different calibration techniques specifically aiming at Likert scales, a few challenges remain. In the next chapter, the most important challenges to fsQCA are addressed and discussed.

1.3. Current Challenges to FsQCA

As previously stated, QCA methods were originally designed to analyze small to medium sized datasets (Ragin, 1987, 2000), i.e. about 12-50 cases (Greckhamer et al., 2013). However, in the context of organizational research, analyses of large-N data are far more reasonable to potentially make well-grounded statements about a specific outcome. In recent years, fsQCA has been progressively extended and applied to larger dataset sizes ranging from 50-100 cases (e.g., Crilly, 2011; Meuer, 2014; Vis, 2012; Woodside, 2013), a few

hundred cases (e.g., Bell et al., 2014; Fiss, 2011; Ordanini et al., 2014), up to over thousand cases (e.g., Campbell et al., 2016; Cooper & Glaesser, 2010, 2016; Cooper, Glaesser, Gomm, & Hammersley, 2012; Garcia-Castro & Francoeur, 2014; Misangyi & Acharya, 2014). The research presented in this dissertation analyzed 947 cases (Study 1), 1,589 and 1,524 cases (Study 2), as well as a comparison of 50 and 500 cases (Study 3) to support the applicability of fsQCA to large datasets and thus to surveys. The transition from small-N to large-N fsQCA entails a few differences that are extensively discussed by Greckhamer et al. (2013). Most importantly, the frequency threshold needs to be adjusted accordingly and a higher number of conditions could be included in the analysis. Of course, researchers lack specific case-knowledge that can hinder the interpretation and meaning of solution pathways (Ragin, 2008). For this reason, some researchers may mistrust results of large-N fsQCA. However, Cooper and Glaesser (2016) developed a test adopted in Study 2 that can verify if small-N pieces of a large-N dataset produce similar results. In sum, the application of fsQCA to large dataset sizes seems to be increasingly accepted and published.

Against this backdrop, another challenge of fsQCA is the robustness and validity of the results. A few researchers have criticized the sensitivity of fsQCA to slight parametric changes compromising results of studies applying fsQCA (e.g., Lucas & Szatrowski, 2014; Krogslund, Choi, & Poertner, 2015; Skaaning, 2011). Although a great part of this criticism could be disproved (e.g., Rohlfing, 2016; Thiem, Baumgartner, & Bol, 2016; Thiem & Baumgartner, 2016), it becomes obvious that robustness tests are urgently required to reduce sensitivity and increase the trustworthiness of fsQCA results. However, only two noteworthy robustness tests currently exist. On the one hand, Cooper and Glaesser (2016) started to address the issue of the transition from small-N to large-N fsQCA. Adopted in Study 2 of the presented research, this subsampling robustness test aims to address concerns about fsQCA application in large-N settings and to help increase confidence in its results. After drawing thousands of small random subsamples (e.g., 50 cases) from the complete large dataset, a percentage determines the degree of robustness by counting the occurrences of these configurations divided by the number of subsamples analyzed. As an example, Study 2 demonstrates that the results of subsamples agree with the results of the complete dataset providing further information on the validity and robustness of large-N fsQCA.

On the other hand, Emmenegger et al. (2014) proposed a robustness test for large-N fsQCA that has been extended and adopted in Study 1 and Study 2 of the presented research. This robustness test aims at demonstrating that the results are insensitive to small changes in data, i.e. robust and reliable. In particular, the data is analyzed for about 1,000 runs while

randomly deleting 10% of the data each run. Then, the occurrences of the emerging configurations are counted. The most robust solution is subsequently identified by its high frequency combined with a low count of other newly emerging combinations. This test has been extended to perform the robustness analyses on a wide variety of thresholds to address potential sensitivity to parametric changes (Study 1 and 2). Therefore, beside the evaluation of robustness of a specific threshold, the threshold leading to the most robust and reliable results can be determined. This generally reduces arbitrariness in choosing thresholds and simultaneously builds trust in fsQCA results.

Regarding the thresholds related to the analysis process of fsQCA, basically two cutoffs are required to be chosen by the researcher. However, researchers partially miss a clear rationale in their choice specifically for large-N fsQCA, because the literature gives only mixed recommendations. Both cut-offs determine which combinations of conditions are included in proceeding analyses. First, the frequency threshold determines the minimum number of cases that is necessary for a combination of conditions to be considered for the analysis. Basically, the frequency threshold balances a trade-off between the potential for deductive analysis and the inclusion of rare configurations. Whereas small-N fsQCA studies should always include all combinations with at least one case, more than two cases are recommended for large-N approaches (Greckhamer et al., 2013). Ragin (2008) even mentioned a frequency threshold of 10 for large-N fsQCA. Although no further recommendations on the exact cut-off value exist specifically in relation to the size of the dataset, it was suggested that 80% of the cases should be included in the analysis (Greckhamer et al. 2013; Ragin & Fiss, 2008). However, this can lead to, for example, a frequency threshold of two cases (as in Study 1) contradicting the recommendation of Greckhamer et al. (2013). Additionally, the 80% rule can quickly lead to the inclusion of rare configurations (e.g., with a frequency threshold of 1). Configurations with very few empirical incidences can negatively affect the analysis, as they are likely to have a low informative value and might be the result of, for example, measurement errors (Ragin, 2008). Especially when conducting organizational surveys, configurations covering less than 1% of all cases would offer only limited practical implications. Therefore, clear recommendations and their consistent application are required in order to avoid the chance of fishing for results and maintain comparability across studies.

The presented research showed two strategies to determine the frequency threshold. On the one hand, as applied in Study 1, at least 1% of the cases are included to provide a minimum basis for practical implications depending on the number of cases. However, no less than three cases should be included at any time, if the total number of cases is above 50 (Greckhamer et al., 2013). On the other hand, the previously mentioned robustness test based on Emmenegger et al. (2014) has been extended in Study 2 to include a variety of frequency thresholds above three cases. Thus, a frequency threshold was determined that yielded the most robust solution. Apart from both strategies, Study 3 only applies the minimum frequency thresholds recommended by Greckhamer et al. (2013) to stay in the scope of computational feasibility in the simulation. However, Study 1 and especially Study 2 aim to build a consistent rationale for determining the frequency threshold of large-N fsQCA.

Second, the consistency threshold determines to what degree cases are consistent with a specific combination of conditions. Although the convention for small-N and large-N fsQCA is a minimum of 0.8 (i.e., "almost always sufficient"; Greckhamer et al., 2013; Ragin, 2008), consistency thresholds of only 0.75 were used as well (e.g., Garcia-Castro & Francoeur, 2014; Whittington et al., 2013). Additionally, the results may differ, if a consistency threshold of, for example, 0.9 instead of 0.8 is applied, although both are in the scope of recommendations. Deviating from a 0.8 threshold could lead to the suspicion that the threshold was altered to obtain specific results, for example to support hypotheses of the study. Again, a clear rationale or more specific recommendations for large-N fsQCA are required to build trust in its results. The robustness test by Emmenegger et al. (2014) has been extended in Study 1 and 2 to incorporate a variety of possible consistency thresholds (e.g., from 0.75 to 0.85 in steps of 0.05). Hence, based on the most robust results, the consistency threshold could be determined specifically for the dataset at hand. In the presented research, consistency thresholds between 0.79 and 0.82 were determined according to the robustness test (Study 1 and 2), whereas Ragin's (2008) recommendation of 0.8 was chosen in Study 3 due to computational feasibility.

Another current challenge of fsQCA is the decision on how many conditions can be included in the analysis depending on the number of cases. Essentially, an increase of the number of cases should result into increasing the number of conditions. Additionally, researchers may quickly tend to analyze more than less conditions, because the design of the method suggests that redundant conditions are eliminated. However, this could be a pitfall due to limited diversity (Ragin, 2008). That is, the number of cases are sparsely scattered across the possible combinations. For example, 12 conditions included in an analysis lead to 4,096 possible combinations (2^k combinations, where k is the total number of conditions). Considering typical dataset sizes of organizational surveys with 500 or 1,000 cases, the issue of limited diversity could be very prominent. As a result, only very few simplifications could

be made leaving highly complex configurations that are difficult to interpret. This may hinder, for example, strategic decisions based on organizational surveys, because too many conditions would have to be taken into account.

Against this backdrop, the literature on the number of conditions to be used is not very clear for different dataset sizes and rather hints at integrating more than less conditions. On the one hand, Greckhamer et al. (2013) define four to eight conditions and six to 12 conditions typical for small-N and large-N fsQCA, respectively. On the other hand, Marx, Cambré, and Rihoux (2013) particularly determined the number of conditions in relation to the number of cases by creating a benchmark table for QCA. The benchmarks illustrate the chance of accepting a model which could similarly have been generated by random data. According to the most stringent benchmark of 1%, more than 180 cases should presumably justify the inclusion of 11 conditions into the analysis. However, limited diversity would be very prominent in this scenario with 2,048 possible combinations. To avoid limited diversity and highly complex solutions, the presented research of this dissertation included seven conditions for 947 cases (Study 1), three conditions for 1,589 and 1,524 cases (Study 2), and four conditions for 50 and 500 cases (Study 3). These studies demonstrate that limiting the number of conditions can be more fruitful for research and practical implications by providing interpretable results.

1.3.1. The Calibration Procedure of FsQCA

An essential factor of fsQCA is the calibration of conditions and outcomes. That is, before the analysis, their values have to be transformed into fuzzy values, i.e. fuzzy sets. In brief, fuzzy sets are continuous measures ranging from 0.0 to 1.0 that need to be calibrated using substantive and theoretical knowledge relevant to set membership (Ragin, 2008). For this purpose, three anchor points have to be chosen by the researcher. First, a membership of 0.05 and below represents conditions as fully out of a set. Second, a membership of 0.95 and above represents conditions fully in a set. Third, a membership of 0.5 acts as a crossover point determining maximum ambiguity. Ideally, the anchors reflect the researcher's conceptualization of the respective fuzzy sets and thus capture the variation of interest (Ragin, 2008; Schneider & Wagemann, 2010). Due to the effect on the solutions, this process should be well documented to enable a clear interpretation of the results (Schneider & Wagemann, 2010).

The most prominent and automated technique to transform conditions and outcomes into fuzzy set membership scores is the direct method (Ragin, 2008). That is, the researcher assigns values of an interval scale to the three anchor points. The specification of anchor points was approached differently in past studies, but can be basically divided into the relative and absolute calibration approach. On the one hand, the relative calibration is mostly performed by using percentiles as anchor points. Although the crossover point sometimes varies between the median (e.g., Beynon, Jones, & Pickernell, 2016; Woodside, 2013) and the mean (e.g., Fiss, 2011; Lucas & Szatrowski, 2014), studies mainly differ in the choice of percentiles for full membership and full nonmembership. In particular, studies applied 95th and 5th percentiles (e.g., Beynon et al., 2016; Lucas & Szatrowski, 2014; Verissimo, 2016; Woodside, 2016), 90th and 10th percentiles (e.g., Dul, 2016; Greckhamer, 2016; Palacios-Marques et al., 2017; Tho & Trang, 2015), or 75th and 25th percentiles (e.g., Fiss, 2011; Greckhamer, Misangyi, Elms, & Lacey, 2008; Misangyi & Acharya, 2014). However, no clear and generally applicable guidelines exist for the relative calibration, yet.

On the other hand, in the context of Likert scales, the choice of anchor points for absolute calibration seems more divers, but similarly lack decisive guidelines. Additionally, the anchor points vary for 5-point Likert scales (e.g., Emmenegger et al., 2014; Fiss, 2011; Cheng et al., 2016) and 7-point Likert scales (e.g., Chang & Cheng, 2014; Cheng, Chang, & Li, 2013; Leischnig & Kasper-Brauer, 2015; Palacios-Marques et al., 2017). For example, the anchor points could be set to 6, 4, and 2 on a 7-point Likert scale (from 1-strongly disagree to 7-strongly agree) for full membership, crossover point, and full nonmembership, respectively (e.g., Meuer, 2014; Ordanini et al., 2014; Whittington et al., 2013). Another promising approach in regard to Likert scales was proposed by Emmenegger et al. (2014). They suggested that "strongly agree" is fully in the set of membership, while "somewhat agree" is already expressing an ambiguity and is not fully in the set of membership. Moreover, "neither agree nor disagree" can be interpreted as rejecting to agree and should be considered below the point of maximum point of ambiguity.

In the presented research, the divers and partially contradicting research regarding the calibration is addressed by applying the relative calibration with 75th, 50th, and 25th percentiles in Study 1 as well as the absolute calibration in Study 2 following Emmenegger et al. (2014). However, no clear guidelines on the calibration manner of typical organizational surveys using Likert scales exist, yet. This could lead to either confusion of researchers thus avoiding the application of fsQCA or even fishing for results. For this reason, Study 3 compares the absolute calibration (anchors: 6, 4, 2 on 7-point Likert scale) to the relative

calibration approach (anchors: 75th, 50th, 25th percentiles) in order to examine the general validity of both calibrations in the context of Likert-type surveys. This is the first step to bringing order into calibration techniques laying the groundwork for specific guidelines.

2. The Presented Research

2.1. Overview

This dissertation is composed of three studies that make several contributions to the existing literature and practice on the application of the configurational approach fsQCA in the context of organizational surveys. The first study specifically examines and conceptualizes the interplay of important factors in the management of affective commitment, expanding its examination to a configurational perspective, and by providing practical implications for the complex management of affective commitment in organizations. To build trust in fsQCA and support the results, two linear, additive methods were taken into account, namely multiple regression and relative importance analysis. Thus, four relevant factors were consistently found to be essential in terms of incremental, relative, and configurational importance for managing high levels of affective commitment. Moreover, Study 1 makes a methodological contribution by expanding a recently suggested robustness test (Emmenegger et al., 2014) in order to increase trustworthiness of fsQCA results and derive appropriate consistency thresholds when applied to large-N organizational surveys.

The purpose of the second study is to understand the formation of change-supportive intentions due to its high relevance for achieving successful organizational changes. In particular, multiple regression analysis, LPA, and fsQCA are applied to longitudinal organizational surveys to provide deeper insights into the potentially complex interdependencies between TPB variables explaining the formation of intentions. Additionally, Study 2 contributes to previous research by applying recently suggested robustness tests. In particular, the robustness test similar to Study 1 is used in addition to a subsampling robustness test (Cooper & Glaesser, 2016) that confirms the successful transition of fsQCA from small-N to large-N organizational surveys.

The aim of the third study is to give helpful suggestions for the simultaneous application of multiple regression analysis and fsQCA in the context of organizational survey data. These suggestions are based on inherited scenarios of survey data in a simulation setting. In addition, the differently applied calibration approaches of fsQCA are compared to clarify the appropriate usage on Likert scales typical for organizational surveys. Whereas the

calibration procedure of fsQCA was conducted in a relative manner in Study 1, an absolute calibration was implemented in Study 2. Hence, Study 3 connects these two studies by giving new insights into the relation of fsQCA to regression analysis and into the fsQCA calibrations.

In summary, the presented studies contribute to the existing research by applying the configurational perspective to organizational surveys providing incremental insights into complex interdependencies of organizational phenomena by taking traditional methods into comparison. From a methodological perspective, the applicability of fsQCA to large datasets is demonstrated and current challenges addressed, such as the robustness of results and the calibration manner. Figure 1 depicts the relation and focus of the presented studies.



Figure 1: Summary of the studies included in the presented research. MRA = multiple regression analysis; RIA = relative importance analysis; LPA = latent profile analysis; fsQCA = fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis

2.2. Study 1: Managing the Complexity of Organisational Commitment: A Fuzzy Set Approach

Meier, A.¹, & Mueller, K.¹ (2017). Managing the Complexity of Organisational Commitment: A Fuzzy Set Approach. *The International Journal of Management*, 6(2), 18-32.

¹ Institute of Psychology, University of Osnabrueck, Seminarstrasse 20, 49074, Osnabrueck, Germany

Abstract

Previous meta-analyses identified several important factors relevant in the management of affective commitment of employees. Although we have extensive knowledge about these factors, yet little is known about their interplay in predicting high levels of commitment. As the complexity of organisational life increases, listing independent factors neglects the configurational nature and complex interplay of organisational phenomena like commitment. Therefore, this study aims to conceptualise and empirically investigate differently complex interplays of previously identified and important core manageable factors of commitment. A particular emphasis is put on the increasingly popular configurational methods in organisational research by incorporating fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis into the comparison. Using panel data of 947 subjects, four configurations could be identified that determine high levels of affective commitment. In particular, the interdependence of job design and organisational treatment shows to be the core interplay and thus of highest relevance for specifically high levels of affective commitment. The study contributes to the literature by specifically examining the interplay of important factors in the management of affective commitment, expanding its examination to a configurational perspective, and by providing practical implications for the complex management of affective commitment in organisations.

Keywords:

affective commitment, relative importance, fsQCA, configurations

2.3. Study 2: A Configurational Perspective on the Theory of Planned Behaviour to Understand Employees' Change-Supportive Intentions

Straatmann, T.¹, Rothenhöfer, L.², Meier, A.¹, & Mueller, K.¹ (2018). A Configurational Perspective on the Theory of Planned Behaviour to Understand Employees' Change-Supportive Intentions. *Applied Psychology*, 67(1), 91-135.

¹ Institute of Psychology, University of Osnabrueck, Seminarstrasse 20, 49074 Osnabrueck, Germany

² Chair of Corporate Social Responsibility, University of Mannheim, Schloss, 68131 Mannheim, Germany

A Configurational Perspective on the Theory of Planned Behavior to Understand Employees' Change-Supportive Intentions

Abstract

This study aims to deepen the understanding of the formation of change-supportive intentions by adopting a configurational perspective. To investigate potential configurations in relevant psychological processes suggested by the theory of planned behavior (Ajzen, 1991), classical linear analytic methods are supplemented by the application of two casecentered methods: latent profile analysis (LPA) and fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis (fsQCA). The study uses data from two measurement times drawing on employees of a city council (t1: N = 1,589; t2: N= 1,524) undergoing complex and continuous organizational changes. While the case-centered results from LPA and fsQCA generally accord well with the results from regression analysis, they consistently highlight the relevance of configurational patterns. Specifically, LPA and fsQCA reveal that different combinations of change-related attitudes, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control relate to the presence or absence of high supportive intentions. These results provide valuable insights for fostering employees' change-supportive intentions. Moreover, the present study demonstrates that case-centered analytical methods can essentially enrich research and theory-building in change management as well as in the field of behavioral intention formation in general.

Keywords: Change-supportive Intentions, Change reactions, Configurational Perspective, Fuzzy Set Qualitative Comparative Analysis, Latent Profile Analysis, Intention Formation, Theory of Planned Behavior, Organizational Behavior, Change Management, Germany

2.4. Study 3: Connecting the Dots of Fuzzy Sets and Regression: A Simulation Study for Survey Data

Meier, A.¹, Straatmann, T.¹, & Mueller, K.¹ (submitted). Connecting the Dots of Fuzzy Sets and Regression: A Simulation Study for Survey Data. *Survey Research Methods*.

¹ Institute of Psychology, University of Osnabrueck, Seminarstrasse 20, 49074 Osnabrueck, Germany

ABSTRACT

Introduced as a set-theoretic method for analyzing configurations and complex relationships in data, fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis (fsQCA) has become an increasingly popular tool. Despite various comparisons, it is still unclear how and when fsQCA and multiple regression should be employed. The purpose of this study is to encourage and inform researchers, who wish to analyze survey data, to identify and draw from the strengths of both methods by embracing their unique properties. In total, 2000 datasets were created in the form of survey data for six induced scenarios, e.g. collinearity or asymmetry. Additionally, dataset sizes are defined for a small-N and large-N setting with 50 and 500 cases, respectively. These datasets were analyzed by multiple regression and fsQCA with an absolute and a relative calibration. The results show a high consistency for regression analysis, especially in large-N datasets detecting interaction effects. In the case of suspected asymmetric effects and combinatorial results, fsQCA shows additional insights. Moreover, fsQCA with an absolute calibration seems to outperform the relative calibration. Regarding different scenarios in survey data, both methods can give new insights into organizational life. In general, supplementing regression analysis by fsQCA with an absolute calibration is recommended. This study firstly provides guidelines for the application of multiple regression and fsQCA for different scenarios of survey data tested in a controlled environment.

Keywords: simulation, survey, configuration, fuzzy set, QCA, fsQCA, multiple regression

3. General Discussion

The overall goal of the presented research was to apply the configurational perspective to organizational surveys. Each of the presented studies aimed to demonstrate the applicability of the increasingly popular fsQCA to large datasets typical to organizational surveys. Additionally, methods commonly used for analyzing surveys were taken into comparison to illustrate the incremental insights of the configurational perspective and specifically of fsQCA. These methods included multiple regression analysis, relative importance analysis, and LPA. Moreover, current methodological challenges of fsQCA were addressed to shed light on its application in the context of organizational surveys and to reduce reasons inhibiting researchers to use this method. The understanding of the transition from small to large datasets, the ratio between cases and conditions, frequency and consistency thresholds, robustness of the results, and the different calibration techniques for Likert scales could be deepened and mostly solved. From an applied perspective, first, fsQCA is generally a method fit to analyze large survey data. Second, robustness tests were developed that determine the most reliable results while simultaneously providing a consistent rationale for choosing frequency and consistency thresholds. Third, the absolute calibration was shown to be a better fit for Liktert scale data, at least when five or less conditions are included into the analysis. Whereas linear, additive approaches often fall short to analyze a higher complexity, the configurational approach could provide novel insights into the field of organizational psychology supplementing the traditional analysis tools. In sum, the presented studies intended to encourage researchers to examine complex interdependencies in organizational psychology by using fsQCA.

3.1. Summary of Results and Study-Specific Implications

The first study presented in this dissertation contributed to the literature on organizational commitment by providing an informed set of predictors of affective commitment and by conceptualizing and investigating three central forms of their interplay. Specifically, these predictors are core factors manageable by organizations that particularly influence high levels of affective commitment. Hence, organizations could increase the commitment of their employees by drawing from its benefits for both the organization (e.g., job performance) and the employee (e.g., well-being). This set of predictors included job scope, job involvement, perceived organizational support, justice, transformational

leadership, coworker satisfaction, pay satisfaction, promotion satisfaction, work-life balance, and job security. The different interplays of these core predictors were conceptualized as incremental contributions analyzed by multiple regression analysis, relative importance analyzed by relative importance analysis, and configurational patterns analyzed by fsQCA.

Using panel data of 947 subjects from various industries in Germany, the results showed major overlaps of the core conditions in fsQCA and the significant factors of the multiple regression as well as relative importance analysis. Across all three conceptualizations of the interplay of relevant factors, job design (job scope and involvement), organizational treatment (perceived organizational support and justice perceptions), leadership, and recognition (pay and promotion satisfaction) were consistently found to be essential in terms of incremental, relative, and configurational importance for the management of affective commitment. Focusing on the configurational approach, the combination of a good job design and positive organizational treatment was essential in relation to high affective commitment, whereas the single absence of positive organizational treatment associated with a lack of high affective commitment. Moreover, the robustness test by Emmenegger et al. (2014) could be extended to obtain more dependable and robust results of large-N fsQCA. This test additionally fortified the applicability of fsQCA to large datasets and thus organizational surveys.

This was the first study empirically examining a large variety of manageable factors relevant to affective commitment, while at the same time examining their interdependencies with a configurational approach. From an applied perspective, the management of particularly high levels of affective commitment can be expected in configurations where management creates a positive job design, fosters high transformational leadership skills, provides adequate pay and career opportunities, and is perceived as making an effort to support employees and treating them fairly. Concentrating on the core insights of fsQCA, the results suggest focusing on the combination of providing a positive job design as well as treating employees fairly and supporting them for achieving high commitment, while the central focus for avoiding its lack may be placed on fair and supportive treatment. From a methodological perspective, this study faced current challenges of fsQCA. In particular, a large number of cases typical to surveys could be analyzed, the trustworthiness of the results was increased by a robustness test, a better rationale for choosing the consistency threshold in large-N settings was developed, and Likert scales were successfully calibrated in a relative manner. At the same time, the study showed that the configurational perspective yields a high

potential for organizational surveys accounting for the complexity of organizational life when supplemented by traditional methods.

The second study included in this dissertation contributed to the literature on change management by deepening the understanding of the formation of employees' change-supportive intentions. Additionally, it highlights the practical importance of considering configurational patterns of psychological factors during change. Specifically, the potentially complex interdependencies between these change-related factors suggested by TPB were explored in relation to varying levels of change-supportive intentions. The TPB determinants include subjective norm, attitude, and PBC that were analyzed by drawing from the strengths of case-centered and variable-centered methods.

The longitudinal data (t1: N = 1,589; t2: N = 1,524) was drawn from a city council undergoing complex and continuous organizational changes. The results of regression analysis, LPA, and fsQCA indicate that the TPB determinants may generally influence each other's effects, or must even co-exist for high change-supportive intentions to occur. Although change-related attitude played both a crucial and nuanced role, it was emphasized that the determinants should not be studied in isolation. In particular, fsQCA revealed equifinal configurations consisting of two TPB determinants, except for the lack of high change-supportive intentions at t2 resulting in an asymmetric effect. Whereas interdependencies of TPB determinants were only found at t1 by regression analysis, LPA identified equifinal profiles of TPB determinants for high intentions at t2. The configurational methods determined that the combination of high change-related attitude and high changerelated PBC was the most consistent and robust solution explaining the biggest variance for fostering high change-supportive intentions. Moreover, the study adopted the robustness test by Emmenegger et al. (2014) and the subsampling robustness test by Cooper and Glaesser (2016) supporting the reliability of fsQCA results and its applicability to large datasets, respectively.

This was the first study empirically examining the TPB variables in the context of a change management process from a predominantly configurational perspective. From an applied perspective and beside equifinal solution pathways, the asymmetric effect implied that interventions during change can be tailored to the status quo and the corresponding goals of the intervention: If the focus is to avoid the lack of high support, focusing on attitude may be a sufficient approach to improve matters. If the focus is on increasing change support, a

broader approach to interventions must be taken. In particular, a "socially supported, positive attitude" or a "control confident, positive attitude" are required for change support. Hence, interventions should aim at providing information about the vision and the benefits of changes, and convincing employees that their social environment approves of change-supportive behaviors and/or that their reactions to the change are within their own control.

From a methodological perspective, this study also faced current challenges of fsQCA. First, the applicability of fsQCA to large-N surveys was supported by additionally performing a subsampling robustness test. Second, a generally applicable robustness test to large-N fsQCA helped to increase trustworthiness of the results and simultaneously helped to find the most robust consistency threshold. Third, organizational survey data was similarly calibrated as suggested by Emmenegger et al. (2014) that supports using an absolute calibration approach. In sum, this study showed that configurational methods analyzing organizational surveys can enrich research and theory-building in change management and provide valuable information for fostering employees' change-supportive intentions.

The third study introduced in this dissertation contributed to the literature on the method of fsQCA by building on the challenges encountered in the other two studies. In particular, this simulation study addressed the comparability of regression analysis with fsQCA, their possible differences for small-N and large-N settings, and compared the two main calibration techniques of fsQCA. By making recommendations for the application of fsCQA, this study intended to resolve remaining challenges that might have inhibited researchers to look into organizational surveys with a configurational perspective.

In total, 2,000 datasets were artificially created in the form of survey data for seven induced scenarios that inherit certain properties. These scenarios included asymmetric effects, high and low multi-collinearity, a single predictor associated with the outcome, and a twofold and threefold conjunction or interaction of predictors. Additionally, dataset sizes were defined for a small-N and large-N setting with 50 and 500 cases, respectively. These datasets were analyzed by multiple regression, fsQCA with an absolute calibration, and fsQCA with a relative calibration. As a result, regression analysis was generally very sufficient in revealing the different scenarios, except for interactions in small datasets samples and asymmetric effects. This can be compensated by supplementing the analysis by fsQCA with an absolute calibration. If Likert scales are used, an absolute calibration should be preferred to a relative calibration. Moreover, it was highly recommended to control survey data for collinearity,

because fsQCA with an absolute calibration seems to be similarly affected as regression analysis.

This was the first study comparing multiple regression with fsQCA as well as different calibration techniques of fsQCA for various scenarios of survey data in a controlled environment. Although additional research on the comparison of both methods is needed, first suggestions were given for the joint use of multiple regression and fsQCA utilizing the unique properties of each method. From an applied perspective, the results indicate that multiple regression should be supplemented by fsQCA for a configurational perspective on survey data. In particular, survey data should be calibrated in an absolute manner for detecting asymmetric effect, if four or less conditions are used in a large-N setting. Moreover, fsQCA is similarly affected by multicollinearity as regression analysis and requires preliminary analysis for its prevention. From a methodological perspective, the applicability of fsQCA to large datasets similar to organizational surveys was confirmed. Additionally, this study shed light on the different calibration techniques of fsQCA suggesting the absolute calibration for Likert scales.

3.2. General Implications for Research and Practice

As previously discussed, the results of the presented research provided several implications fostering affective commitment and forming change-supportive intentions, as well as methodological and conceptual implications for the application of fsQCA. Besides validating the application of fsQCA to large-N surveys, incremental insights were demonstrated by additionally taking well-established and traditional approaches into account, such as regression analysis. The presented research addressed and partially solved current challenges that reveal several methodological implications advancing fsQCA in its robustness and applicability to survey data. Hence, this dissertation intends to pave the way for future research in the field of organizational psychology taking on a configurational perspective to better cope with complex interdependencies in survey data. In this section, general implications are presented that can be derived from the three studies presented.

Beside equifinal solutions entailing different levers for strategic interventions, fsQCA has two distinct conceptual implications for research in organizational psychology. First, this set-theoretic approach revealed which asymmetric effects underlie the solutions related to the presence and those connected to the absence of affective commitment (Study 1) as well as

change-supportive intentions (Study 2). In contrast, multiple regression and relative importance analysis fail to detect asymmetric effects due to their symmetric nature. Although LPA can cluster groups showing both low and high values in the outcome of interest, fsQCA analyzes both its presence and absence explicitly. Analyzing both sides can give additional insights into specific outcomes. From a practical perspective, the analysis of the absence of an outcome could be specifically helpful, for example if resources of the organization are limited to promote high commitment or change-supportive intentions. This way, interventions can be implemented that at least prevent a decay or decrease of commitment or intentions until resources for their promotion are available again.

Second, despite some skepticism towards large-N fsQCA, the presented research further contributed to recent literature by demonstrating its applicability to large-N settings. From a conceptual and empirical perspective, fsQCA has been proven to be fit to dependably analyze large datasets. Considering Study 1, fsQCA has been successfully applied to 947 cases. In the scope of their methodological capabilities, the regression and relative importance analyses greatly supported the results of fsQCA. Regarding Study 2, the fsQCA results of 1,589 and 1,524 cases could also mostly be backed up by regression and LPA. Additionally, the adjusted subsampling robustness test concerning the dataset size could significantly increase the trustworthiness of the large-N results. Building on both studies, Study 3 took the comparison of small-N and large-N fsQCA into account. Disregarding the calibration procedure, fsQCA even performed better in creating the expected results for large datasets than for small datasets. In accordance with recent research (e.g., Bell et al., 2014; Campbell et al., 2016; Garcia-Castro & Francoeur, 2014; Misangyi & Acharya, 2014), the presented studies thus imply the dependable application of fsQCA to large dataset sizes that are representative for organizational surveys in the field of organizational psychology.

From a methodological and applied perspective, the results of the presented research could improve the use of fsQCA generating several new insights. First, fsQCA shows to be a very suitable configurational approach to identify interdependencies in data. In contrast, the potential counterpart of regression analysis quickly shows limitations and may cause difficulties (Aguinis, 1995; Aguinis & Stone-Romero, 1997). In fact, interactions of over three variables are rare, because the interpretation of the coefficients becomes infeasible while statistical assumptions cannot be maintained (e.g., Grofman & Schneider, 2009; Kam & Franzese, 2007). In accordance with Study 3, small dataset sizes inhibit the number of interaction terms that could be integrated into a regression model (Epstein, Duerr,

Kenworthy, & Ragin, 2008). Additionally, Study 2 showed that interaction terms in regression analyses sometimes failed to achieve significance, although LPA and fsQCA pointed to relevant configurations. Hence, the analysis of complex interdependencies with, for example, regression analysis can be rather delicate and is currently more promising if performed by a configurational method like fsQCA, as demonstrated in all three studies of this dissertation.

Second, the presented research shed light on the calibration procedures of fsQCA introduced over the last years. In particular, the relative calibration (Study 1) as well as the absolute calibration (Study 2) could be successfully applied indicating advantages in both. On the one hand, the relative approach becomes particularly interesting to automatically cope with known tendencies towards positive values on Likert scales in survey research (e.g., Braunscheidel et al., 2010; McCarty & Shrum, 2000). Additionally, the relative calibration would be independent of, for example, the number of points on the Likert scale or insufficient variance in the data by still maintaining the complete fuzzy value spectrum. For example, values between 5 and 7 on a 7-pt Likert scale that are nearby could still result in three sufficient anchor points for the relative calibration procedure. On the other hand, an absolute calibration needs to be manually adjusted to cope with low variance. That is, values between 5 and 7 on a 7-pt Likert scale could not be properly calibrated with 6, 4, and 2 as anchor points. To cope with this issue, thresholds using an absolute calibration were previously adjusted according to tendencies (Emmenegger et al., 2014; Ordanini et al., 2014) or means (Cheng et al., 2016). Additionally, if sufficient variance could be guaranteed, an absolute calibration would assure comparability across survey studies. Moreover, as Study 3 suggested, the absolute approach seems to be better suited for detecting asymmetric effects in data than the relative approach. However, this contradicts the fsQCA results of Study 1 and requires additional research. Thus, the issue of the different calibration approaches and anchor points could not be completely solved by the presented research. Still, from an applied perspective, an absolute approach is recommended, if less than five conditions are included in the analysis as in Study 3 and asymmetric effects are of interest.

Third, concerning the robustness of fsQCA results, two of the presented studies contributed to previous research by applying and extending recently introduced robustness tests. On the one hand, the test for large-N settings suggested by Emmenegger et al. (2014) helped to determine the robustness of a solution by, for example, randomly deleting 10% of the data for 1,000 runs. Hence, the resulting configurations would be persistent against a

certain amount of variance in the data. By extending this test to various possible thresholds, the consistency threshold could be chosen in a recommended range according to the most robust solutions resulting from the tests. A range of consistency thresholds was recommended by the developer of the method himself (>=0.8; Ragin, 2000, 2008), but lower thresholds have been used as well (0.75; e.g., Whittington et al., 2013) that could quickly confuse researchers. However, the extended robustness test not only allows to determine the robustness of fsQCA, but simultaneously can help to choose the best consistency threshold. This becomes especially helpful for thresholds in the "grey" area between 0.8 and 1.0. For this reason, this robustness test is recommended as a mandatory tool for every fsQCA application to increase reliability and avoid "cherry-picking".

On the other hand, the subsampling robustness test suggested by Cooper and Glaesser (2016) helps to increase confidence in the results of large-N fsQCA. As applied in Study 2, small sample sizes (e.g., 40-50 cases) are randomly drawn from the complete dataset. The idea is to run the analysis on sample sizes that are suitable for the initial design of fsQCA. Despite the decent amount of papers applying fsQCA to large-N data and existing guidelines (e.g., Greckhamer et al., 2013), the exact implications from the transition of small-N to large-N fsQCA seem not entirely clear. However, this subsampling robustness test can ensure the congruence of results when analyzing a large dataset. Thus, until the application of large-N fsQCA further fortifies, this test can be a helpful supplement to strengthen the trustworthiness of fsQCA in large-N settings.

3.3. General Limitations and Future Directions

As in most research, the presented studies face a few limitations that need to be noted. First and most obvious, the use of the relative calibration approach in Study 1 seems to contradict the recommendations of Study 3. In particular, the results of the simulation study indicate that asymmetric effects can only be created if the Likert scales are calibrated in an absolute instead of relative manner. However, the obtained configurations for the absence as well as the presence of affective commitment (Study 1) differ in at least two conditions per solution pathway, i.e. they are asymmetric. Turning to other research applying a relative calibration to Likert scale, we are only left with a single study by Veríssimo (2016). However, no valid configurations for the presence of the outcome could be obtained, because the consistency thresholds were below 0.5. Although a couple configurations are per se asymmetric compared to no configurations, this deficit could occur due to various reasons and needs further confirmation. In contrast to four conditions included in Study 3, Veríssimo (2016) included six and Study 1 even seven conditions into the analyses. A higher number of conditions could be a reasonable explanation for asymmetric effects in fsQCA using the relative calibration, because it simultaneously increases the chance of more divers configurations. Hence, future research is needed to compare the different calibration techniques with a higher number of conditions to examine the possibility of detecting asymmetric effects.

Second, other researches might arrive at different calibrations in each of the presented studies. As previously discussed in the introduction, different calibration techniques and various anchor points were previously applied on Likert scales. Additionally, the calibration process of fsQCA is an essential part of the current methodological debate (e.g., Krogslund et al., 2015; Thiem et al., 2016). In fact, setting the anchor values introduces some degree of subjectivity and may occasionally provide difficulties, for example if there is no sufficient knowledge or theoretical grounding in order to identify meaningful anchors. Even though the anchor points were set in an informed and justified manner in the presented research, clear and overarching guidelines on the calibration of Likert scales are still required for establishing a standard. Hence, future studies could perform extensive simulations for different calibrations of Likert scales or develop a calibration robustness test. With the calibration procedure being the most complex adjustment manually done by the researcher, this could diminish the barrier of using fsQCA in the field of organizational psychology. Furthermore, based on such newly established standards, theoretical and substantive knowledge could be individually applied to cope, for example, with cultural differences in responding to Likert scales.

Third, the relation and comparison of fsQCA to other methods is not exhaustive, but can give a few methodological insights. As a baseline, all three presented studies took regression analysis into account. Previous studies have already compared fsQCA with regression analysis (e.g., Grofman & Schneider, 2009; Seawright, 2005; Vis, 2012). However, debates about their exact relations are still in progress (e.g., Thiem et al., 2016). For this reason, as a third method, relative importance analysis and LPA were included in Study 1 and Study 2, respectively. Their inclusion was intended to provide a groundwork to build on and support the results of fsQCA, which is rather new to research in organizational psychology. Although a comparison of methods may suggest the superiority of a single method, the presented studies argue for a supplementary use of each method fostering their unique properties. Furthermore, Meuer and Rupietta (2017) suggest that the integration of QCA and statistical analysis promises strong inferences for multilevel research on organizational configurations. Therefore, additional studies comparing classical analysis with fsQCA should be conducted to aggravate the acceptance of fsQCA in the field of organizational psychology.

Finally, only Study 2 of three studies was based on longitudinal data to possibly draw conclusions about causality. However, the two measurement times in Study 2 could not be matched over time due to data protection policies. Even though the literature on fsQCA often refers to contributing factors as "causal" conditions (e.g., Fiss, 2011; Ragin, 2000, 2008), causality is certainly not given per se. In fact, the causality is not bound to the methods of QCA as it is often illustrated. Instead, these "causal" conditions would be previously determined as predictors or factors that are already known to inherit a causal relationship to the outcome. Moreover, such causal relations are argued to only be identified by fsQCA if the parsimonious solution is used (Baumgartner, 2015). Hence, drawing causal inferences, particularly from organizational surveys, is not simply entailed by fsQCA and should be handled with caution.

3.4. Outlook

Based on the contributions of the presented research, a number of future studies can be derived or even become very salient that make methodological contributions to fsQCA or strengthen the applicability of a configurational approach to survey data. These studies worth pursuing are suggested in the following.

From a conceptual and methodological perspective, the presented research showed the importance of a configurational approach to psychological phenomena in organizations. As numerously proposed (e.g., Fiss et al., 2013; Meyer et al., 1993; Short et al., 2008), the configurational approach offers a high potential uncovering complex interdependencies in organizational life. Although a number of studies has been recently published in the field of business and management research (e.g., Campbell et al., 2016; Greckhamer, 2016; Fiss, 2011; Misangyi & Acharya, 2014), configurational methods still lack application in organizational psychology. In this context, fsQCA could particularly supplement research on psychological and organizational phenomena mostly relying on linear, additive methods.

Hence, the complementary application of fsQCA could give new insights into, for example, the prediction of turnover intention, perceived corporate social responsibility, work stress, or work engagement. Specifically, turnover intention could complement Study 1 by offering valuable clues on one of the opposing sides of organizational commitment.

Additionally, from a conceptual and methodological perspective, studying such phenomena by fsQCA could be expanded to longitudinal settings, for example for affective commitment. Although Study 2 examines two time points by configurational approaches, fsQCA was applied to each time point separately without a methodological integration. Beside the general value of multi-time studies in organizational psychology, fsQCA was not extended to specifically examine longitudinal data, yet. Even though tQCA considers the temporal order of conditions (Caren & Panofsky, 2005) in addition to the original QCA, this method needs to be expanded to fuzzy sets and the integration of data across several time points.

Considering the equifinality property, fsQCA appears to be particularly well suited to examine different patterns of relations for subgroups of employees. In the field of organizational psychology, it seems particularly interesting to have specific knowledge of the relevant configurational patterns for different employee populations in regard to age, tenure, family status, and others. For example, the manager sample was analyzed in Study 2 in an explorative manner showing the potential for subgroup-specific configurations. This way, interventions and strategies can be particularly customized to subgroups possibly enhancing their success. However, one significant challenge is that the unique coverages are partially very low across different solution pathways. This can result into the same employees yielding several identical configurations, especially in regard to core conditions. Hence, further research is needed on how to handle the methodological consequences that are entailed by such an approach.

From a methodological perspective, fsQCA for large datasets can typically incorporate six to 12 conditions (Greckhamer et al., 2013). A simulation showed that specifically QCA could integrate 11 conditions, if more than 180 cases are included in the analysis (Marx et al., 2013). However, as discussed earlier, too many conditions lead to the problem of limited diversity. That is, not all the combinations possible are occupied by empirical cases. Limited diversity was not an issue in the presented research, because the ratio of conditions and cases was acceptable or could be coped with by the number of runs in the simulation. However, the exact number of allowed conditions for fsQCA still requires

clarification. Therefore, a simulation study advancing the study of Marx et al. (2013) would be needed for fsQCA that suggests guidelines for the ratio of conditions and cases.

In regard to the robustness of fsQCA, robustness tests were adjusted and applied in Study 1 and Study 2. Although Study 3 created 2,000 datasets per scenario that already provided a certain amount of robustness, the simulation could be expanded by the robustness test based on Emmenegger et al. (2014) in a future study. This would be very computationally expensive, but could strengthen the results and suggestions tremendously. Additionally, future studies could build on the robustness test by developing meaningful thresholds for the robustness performance determining whether a solution can be considered or should be rejected. Moreover, a further expansion of robustness tests should be tested and applied in future studies that helps determining the optimal frequency thresholds similar to the consistency thresholds determined in Study 1 and 2. To enhance fsQCA, Rohlfing (2016) proposed that simulations are required and indeed a fitting tool for this matter. Hence, several simulation studies could be conducted that improve the robustness of fsQCA and offer reliable tests.

In order to further foster the application of configurational methods in organizational psychology, the relation to more classical and established methods typical to this field can additionally build trust in the results of fsQCA. Although the results of the different methods mostly differ by their individual properties alone, fsQCA could show additional aspects worth further investigating. As performed in the presented research, multi-method approaches should be in the spirit of researchers to reveal multiple perspectives. Still, no analytical assessment exists to determine a possible superiority of, for example, regression analysis over fsQCA. In this context, several debates have been published without providing a clear superior method (Clark, Gilligan, & Golder, 2006; Mahoney, 2008; Wagemann & Schneider, 2010). Hence, despite an admittedly difficulty or even impossibility, a reliable measure for the assessment of the validity of fsQCA results in comparison to traditional methods would be most desirable.

Concerning configurational approaches, fsQCA is not the only method analyzing configurations, as mentioned before. In spite of its popularity and progressing improvements, other configurational approaches might be worth exploring in research of organizational psychology. One established method to detect profiles is LPA, which was applied in Study 2 while demonstrating its limitations. Another method with a stronger focus on causality is CNA. Although CNA is not as well-established as fsQCA, yet, it could give new insights into

phenomena interesting to the field of organizational psychology. This approach focuses on causal chains and does not require the declaration of independent variables or outcomes. Thus, future studies could apply CNA, if a specific outcome could not be theoretically determined or several conditions could possibly come into question.

Based on the design of Study 3 and the recommendations by Rohlfing (2016), this study could be further extended to a more elaborate and comprehensive simulation or build on each other by smaller separate simulations. These additional simulations could include the core-periphery model proposed by Fiss (2011). The importance of individual conditions or their combinations could supplement the understanding of, for example, the relation between core conditions and significant variables of regression analysis. Alternatively, the simulation could build on the complex solution as determined in Study 3 and integrate the parsimonious solution. This differentiation could shed light on the debate between these two solutions (e.g., Baumgartner, 2015). Studying both solution strategies as well as the core-periphery model go mostly hand in hand. Hence, future simulation studies could further improve the understanding of fsQCA and foster its application, for example in survey research.

In sum, the presented research highlighted the applicability of fsQCA to organizational surveys and that a configurational approach can give new valuable insights into the field of organizational psychology and the analysis of organizational surveys. Although a few methodological challenges remain, the presented research hopes that the findings could resolve most of these challenges and thus encourage researchers to use fsQCA as a fruitful supplementary tool in future studies further enriching the understanding of organizational life.

4. References

- Aguinis, H. (1995). Statistical Power Problems with Moderated Multiple Regression in Management Research. *Journal of Management*, 21(6), 1141-1158. doi: 10.1016/0149-2063(95)90026-8
- Aguinis, H., & Stone-Romero, E. F. (1997). Methodological Artifacts in Moderated Multiple Regression and their Effects on Statistical Power. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82(1), 192-206. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.82.1.192
- Aversa, P., Furnari, S., & Haefliger, S. (2015). Business model configurations and performance: A qualitative comparative analysis in Formula One racing, 2005–2013. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 24(3), 655-676. doi: 10.1093/icc/dtv012
- Baumgartner, M. (2009). Inferring causal complexity. Sociological Methods & Research, 38(1), 71-101. doi: 10.1177/0049124109339369
- Baumgartner, M. (2015). Parsimony and causality. *Quality & Quantity*, 49(2), 839-856. doi 10.1007/s11135-014-0026-7
- Baumgartner, M., & Epple, R. (2014). A Coincidence Analysis of a causal chain: The Swis minaret vote. Sociological Methods & Research, 43(2), 280-312. doi: 10.1177/0049124113502948
- Bell, R. G., Filatotchev, I., & Aguilera, R. V. (2014). Corporate governance and investors' perceptions of foreign IPO value: An institutional perspective. Academy of Management Journal, 57(1), 301-320. doi: 10.5465/amj.2011.0146
- Berger, E. S. (2016). Is Qualitative Comparative Analysis an Emerging Method?—Structure Literature Review and Bibliometric Analysis of QCA Applications in Business and Management Research. In E. S. C. Berger, & A. Kuckertz (Eds.), *Complexity in Entrepreneurship, Innovation and Technology Research* (pp. 287-308). New York, NY: Springer International Publishing.
- Beynon, M. J., Jones, P., & Pickernell, D. (2016). Country-based comparison analysis using fsQCA investigating entrepreneurial attitudes and activity. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(4), 1271-1276. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.091
- Borgatti, S. P., & Everett, M. G. (2000). Models of core/periphery structures. *Social Networks*, *21*(4), 375-395. doi: 10.1016/S0378-8733(99)00019-2

- Braunscheidel, M. J., Suresh, N. C., & Boisnier, A. D. (2010). Investigating the impact of organisational culture on supply chain integration. *Human Resource Management*, 49(5), 883–911. doi: 10.1002/hrm.20381
- Cambré, B., Fiss, P. C., & Marx, A. (2013). Conclusion: The path forward. In P. C. Fiss, B.
 Cambré, & A. Marx (Eds.), *Research in the Sociology of Organizations Volume 38* (pp. 311-319). Bingley, UK: Emerald Group Publishing Limited. doi: 10.1108/S0733-558X%282013%290000038018
- Campbell, J. T., Sirmon, D. G., & Schijven, M. (2016). Fuzzy logic and the market: A configurational approach to investor perceptions of acquisition announcements. *Academy of Management Journal*, 59(1), 163-187. doi: 10.5465/amj.2013.0663
- Caren, N., & Panofsky, A. (2005). TQCA: A technique for adding temporality to qualitative comparative analysis. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 34(2), 147-172. doi: 10.1177/0049124105277197
- Chang, M. L., & Cheng, C. F. (2014). How balance theory explains high-tech professionals' solutions of enhancing job satisfaction. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(9), 2008-2018. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.10.010
- Cheng, L. Y. V., Cai, H. H., & Jin, Z. (2016). The Effect of Parental Opportunism, IJV's Autonomy and Tacit Knowledge on IJV Instability: A Comparison of Multi-variate Regression and Fuzzy-Set Qualitative Comparative Analysis. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(11), 5203-5209. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.113
- Cheng, C. F., Chang, M. L., & Li, C. S. (2013). Configural paths to successful product innovation. *Journal of Business Research*, 66(12), 2561-2573. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.10.006
- Clark, W. R., Gilligan, M. J., & Golder, M. (2006). A Simple Multivariate Test for Asymmetric Hypotheses. *Political Analysis*, 14(3), 311-331. doi: 10.1093/pan/mpj018
- Cooper, B. (2005). Applying Ragin's crisp and fuzzy set QCA to large datasets: Social class and educational achievement in the national child development study. *Sociological Research Online*, *10*(2).
- Cooper, B., & Glaesser, J. (2010). Contrasting variable-analytic and case-based approaches to the analysis of survey datasets: exploring how achievement varies by ability across configurations of social class and sex. *Methodological Innovations Online*, 5(1), 3-23. doi: 10.1093/esr/jcq026

- Cooper, B., & Glaesser, J. (2016). Exploring the robustness of set theoretic findings from a large n fsQCA: An illustration from the sociology of education. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 19(4), 445-459. doi: 10.1080/13645579.2015.1033799
- Cooper, B., Glaesser, J., Gomm, R., Hammersley, M. (2012). Challenging the Qualitative-Quantitative Divide: Explorations in Case-focused Causal Analysis (Vol. 1).
 Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Crilly, D. (2011). Predicting stakeholder orientation in the multinational enterprise: A midrange theory. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 42(5), 694-717. doi: 10.1057/jibs.2010.57
- Crilly, D., Zollo, M., & Hansen, M. T. (2012). Faking it or muddling through? Understanding decoupling in response to stakeholder pressures. Academy of Management Journal, 55(6), 1429-1448. doi: 10.5465/amj.2010.0697
- DeSarbo, W., Di Benedetto, A., Song, M., & Sinha, I. J. (2005). Extending the Miles and Snow strategic framework: Strategic types, capabilities, environmental uncertainty, and firm performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, *26*(1), 47–74.
- Dul, J. (2016). Identifying single necessary conditions with NCA and fsQCA. Journal of Business Research, 69(4), 1516-1523. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.134
- Emmenegger, P., Schraff, D., & Walter, A. (2014). QCA, the Truth Table Analysis and Large- N Survey Data: The Benefits of Calibration and the Importance of Robustness Tests. In 2nd International QCA Expert Workshop, November, Zurich, Switzerland.
- Eng, S., & Woodside, A. G. (2012). Configural analysis of the drinking man: Fuzzy-set qualitative comparative analyses. *Addictive Behaviors*, 37(4), 541-543. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.11.034
- Epstein, J., Duerr, D., Kenworthy, L., & Ragin, C. (2008). Comparative Employment Performance: A Fuzzy-Set Analysis. In L. Kenworthy, & A. Hicks (Eds.), *Method* and Substance in Macrocomparative Analysis (pp. 67-90). Palgrave Macmillan UK. doi: 10.1057/9780230594081_3
- Feurer, S., Baumbach, E., & Woodside, A. G. (2016). Applying configurational theory to build a typology of ethnocentric consumers. International Marketing Review, 33(3), 351-375. doi: 10.1108/IMR-03-2014-0075
- Fiss, P. C. (2007). A set-theoretic approach to organizational configurations. Academy of Management Review, 32(4), 1180–1198. doi: 10.5465/AMR.2007.26586092

- Fiss, P. C. (2011). Building better causal theories: A fuzzy set approach to typologies in organization research. Academy of Management Journal, 54(2), 393–420. doi: 10.5465/AMR.2007.26586092
- Fiss, P. C., Marx, A., & Cambré, B. (2013). Chapter 1 Configurational theory and methods in organisational research: Introduction. In P. C. Fiss, B. Cambré, & A. Marx (Eds.), *Research in the Sociology of Organisations Volume 38* (pp. 1–22). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. doi: 10.1108/S0733-558X(2013)0000038005
- Garcia-Castro, R., & Francoeur, C. (2014). When more is not better: Complementarities, costs and contingencies in stakeholder management. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(2), 406–424. doi: 10.1002/smj.2341
- Grandori, A., & Furnari, S. (2008). A chemistry of organisation: Combinatory analysis and design. *Organisation Studies*, *29*(3), 459-485. doi: 10.1177/0170840607088023
- Greckhamer, T. (2011). Cross-cultural differences in compensation level and inequality across occupations: A set-theoretic analysis. *Organisation Studies*, 32(1), 85–115. doi: 10.1177/0170840610380806
- Greckhamer, T. (2016). CEO compensation in relation to worker compensation across countries: The configurational impact of country-level institutions. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(4), 793-815. doi: 10.1002/smj.2370
- Greckhamer, T., Misangyi, V. F., Elms, H., & Lacey, R. (2008). Using qualitative comparative analysis in strategic management research: An examination of combinations of industry, corporate, and business-unit effects. *Organizational Research Methods*, 11(4), 695-726. doi: 10.1177/1094428107302907
- Greckhamer, T., Misangyi, V. F., & Fiss, P. C. (2013). Chapter 3 The two QCAs: From a small-N to a large-N set theoretic approach. In P. C. Fiss, B. Cambré, & A. Marx (Eds.), *Research in the Sociology of Organisations Volume 38* (pp. 49–75). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. doi: 10.1108/S0733-558X(2013)0000038007
- Grofman, B., Schneider, C. Q. (2009). An Introduction to Crisp Set QCA, with a Comparison to Binary Logistic Regression. Political Research Quarterly, 62(4), 662-672. doi: 10.1177/1065912909338464
- Hunn, E. (1982). The utilitarian factor in folk biological classification. *American Anthropologist*, 84(4), 830-847. doi: 10.1525/aa.1982.84.4.02a00070
- Katz, D., & Kahn, R. L. (1978). The social psychology of organisations (2nd ed.). Oxford, England: Wiley.

- Kam, C., Franzese, R. J. (2007). Modeling and Interpreting Interactive Hypotheses in Regression Analysis. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Kent, R. (2009). Case Centered Methods and Quantitative Analysis. In D. Byrne, & C. C. Ragin (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of case-based methods* (pp. 184-207). Sage Publications.
- Kent, R. A., & Argouslidis, P. C. (2005). Shaping business decisions using fuzzy-set analysis: Service elimination decisions. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 21(5-6), 641-658. doi: 10.1362/0267257054307354
- Kraut, A. I. (Ed.). (1996). Organizational surveys: Tools for assessment and change. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Krogslund, C., Choi, D. D., & Poertner, M. (2015). Fuzzy Sets on Shaky Ground: Parameter Sensitivity and Confirmation Bias in fsQCA. *Political Analysis*, 23(1), 21-41. doi: 10.1093/pan/mpu016
- Lazarsfeld, P. F., & Henry, N. W. (1968). *Latent structure analysis*. New York, NY: Houghton-Mifflin.
- Leischnig, A., & Kasper-Brauer, K. (2015). Employee adaptive behavior in service enactments. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(2), 273-280. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.07.008
- Longest, K. C., & Thoits, P. A. (2012). Gender, the stress process, and health: A configurational approach. *Society and Mental Health*, 2(3), 187-206. doi: 10.1177/2156869312451151
- Lucas, S.R., & Szatrowski, A. (2014). Qualitative Comparative Analysis in Critical Perspective. *Sociological Methodology*, 44(1), 1-79. doi: 10.1177/0081175014532763
- Lyles, M. A., & Schwenk, C. R. (1992). Top management, strategy and organizational knowledge structures. *Journal of Management Studies*, 29(2), 155-174. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.1992.tb00658.x
- Mahoney, J. (2008). Toward a Unified Theory of Causality. *Comparative Political Studies*, 41(4-5), 412-436. doi: 10.1177/0010414007313115
- Marlin, D., Ketchen Jr, D. J., & Lamont, B. (2007). Equifinality and the strategic groups– performance relationship. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, *19*(2), 208–232.
- Marx, A., Cambré, B., & Rihoux, B. (2013). Chapter 2 Crisp-Set Qualitative Comparative Analysis in Organizational Studies. In P. C. Fiss, B. Cambré, & A. Marx (Eds.),

Research in the Sociology of Organisations Volume 38 (pp. 23–47). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. doi: 10.1108/S0733-558X%282013%290000038006

- McCarty, J. A., Shrum, L. J. (2000). The Measurement of Personal Values in Survey Research: A Test of Alternative Rating Procedures. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 64(3), 271-298. doi: 10.1086/317989
- Meuer, J. (2014). Archetypes of inter-firm relations in the implementation of management innovation: A set-theoretic study in China's biopharmaceutical industry. *Organisation Studies*, 35(1), 121-145. doi: 10.1177/0170840613495339
- Meuer, J., & Rupietta, C. (2017). Integrating QCA and HLM for multilevel research on organizational configurations. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(2), 324-342. doi: 10.1177/1094428116665465
- Mikalef, P., Pappas, I. O., & Giannakos, M. (2016). Consumer Intentions on Social Media: A fsQCA Analysis of Motivations. In *Conference on e-Business, e-Services and e-Society* (pp. 371-386). Springer International Publishing. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-45234-0_34
- Misangyi, V. F., & Acharya, A. G. (2014). Substitutes or complements? A configurational examination of corporate governance mechanisms. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57(6), 1681-1705. doi: 10.5465/amj.2012.0728
- Meyer, A. D., Tsui, A. S., & Hinings, C. R. (1993). Configurational approaches to organisational analysis. Academy of Management Journal, 36(6), 1175–1195. doi: 10.2307/256809
- Olufadi, Y. (2015). A configurational approach to the investigation of the multiple paths to success of students through mobile phone use behaviors. *Computers & Education*, 86, 84-104. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2015.03.005
- Ordanini, A., Parasuraman, A., & Rubera, G. (2014). When the recipe is more important than the ingredients: A qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) of service innovation configurations. Journal of Service Research, 17(2), 134-149. doi: 10.1177/1094670513513337
- Oreg, S., Vakola, M., & Armenakis, A. (2011). Change recipients' reactions to organizational change: A 60-year review of quantitative studies. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 47(4), 461–524. doi: 10.1177/0021886310396550
- Pahl-Wostl, C., & Knieper, C. (2014). The capacity of water governance to deal with the climate change adaptation challenge: Using fuzzy set Qualitative Comparative

Analysis to distinguish between polycentric, fragmented and centralized regimes. *Global Environmental Change*, 29, 139-154. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.09.003

- Pajunen, K. (2008). Institutions and inflows of foreign direct investment: A fuzzy-set analysis. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 39(4), 652-669. doi: 10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8400371
- Palacios-Marqués, D., Roig-Dobón, S., & Comeig, I. (2017). Background factors to innovation performance: results of an empirical study using fsQCA methodology. *Quality & Quantity*, 51(5), 1939-1953. doi: 10.1007/s11135-016-0414-2
- Pfeffer, J. (1976). Beyond management and the worker: The institutional function of management. Academy of Management Review, 1(2), 36-46. doi: 10.5465/AMR.1976.4408661
- Ragin, C. (1987). *The comparative method: Moving beyond qualitative and quantitative methods*. Berkeley: University of California.
- Ragin, C. C. (2000). Fuzzy-set social science. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Ragin, C. C. (2006). The limitations of net-effects thinking. In B. Rihoux & H. Grimm (Eds.), Innovative comparative methods for policy analysis (pp. 13-41). Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ragin, C. C. (2008). *Redesigning social inquiry: Fuzzy sets and beyond*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. doi: 10.1002/j.1662-6370.2009.tb00140.x
- Ragin, C. C., & Fiss, P. C. (2008). Net effects analysis versus configurational analysis: An empirical demonstration. In C. C. Ragin (Ed.), *Redesigning social inquiry: Fuzz sets* and beyond (pp. 190–212). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. doi: 10.1002/j.1662-6370.2009.tb00140.x
- Rihoux, B., Álamos-Concha, P., Bol, D., Marx, A., & Rezsöhazy, I. (2013). From niche to mainstream method? A comprehensive mapping of QCA applications in journal articles from 1984 to 2011. *Political Research Quarterly*, 66(1), 175–184.
- Rihoux, B., & Marx, A. (2013). QCA, 25 Years after "The Comparative Method" Mapping, Challenges, and Innovations—Mini-Symposium. *Political Research Quarterly*, 66(1), 167-235. doi: 10.1177/1065912912468269
- Rogelberg, S. G. (2002). *Handbook of research methods in industrial and organizational psychology*. London: Blackwell.
- Rohlfing, I. (2016). Why simulations are appropriate for evaluating qualitative comparative analysis. *Quality & Quantity*, 50(5), 2073-2084. doi: 10.1007/s11135-015-0251-8

- Rosch, E. (1983). Prototype classification and logical classification: The two systems. In E. Scholnick (Ed.), *New trends in conceptual representation: Challenges to Piaget's theory* (pp.73-86). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Schneider, C. Q., & Wagemann, C. (2003). Improving Inference with a'Two-step'Approach: Theory and Limited Diversity in fs/QCA. EUI Working Papers. 2003/7. European University Institute. San Domenico di Fiesole.
- Schneider, C. Q., & Wagemann, C. (2010). Standards of good practice in qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) and fuzzy-sets. *Comparative Sociology*, 9(3), 397–418. doi: 10.1163/156913210X12493538729793
- Schneider, C. Q., & Wagemann, C. (2012). Set-theoretic methods for the social sciences: A guide to qualitative comparative analysis. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Schneider, C. Q., & Wagemann, C. (2013). Doing justice to logical remainders in QCA: Moving beyond the standard analysis. *Political Research Quarterly*, 66(1), 211-220. doi: 10.1177/1065912912468269h
- Seawright, J. (2005). Qualitative Comparative Analysis vis-à-vis Regression. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 40(1), 3-26. doi: 10.1007/BF02686284
- Short, J. C., Payne, G. T., & Ketchen, D. J. (2008). Research on organisational configurations: Past accomplishments and future challenges. *Journal of Management*, 34(6), 1053–1079. doi: 10.1177/0149206308324324
- Siggelkow, N. (2001). Change in the presence of fit: The rise, the fall, and the renaissance of Liz Claiborne. Academy of Management Journal, 44(4), 838-857. doi: 10.2307/3069418
- Siggelkow, N. (2002). Evolution toward fit. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 47(1), 125–159. doi: 10.2307/3094893
- Skaaning, S. E. (2011). Assessing the robustness of crisp-set and fuzzy-set QCA results. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 40(2), 391–408. doi: 10.1177/0049124111404818
- Su, Y. S., Chiang, W. L., Lee, C. T. J., & Chang, H. C. (2016). The Effect of Flow Experience on Player Loyalty in Mobile Game Application. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 63, 240-248. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.049
- Suddaby, R., Hardy, C., & Huy, Q. N. (2011). Introduction to special topic forum: Where are the new theories of organisation? *Academy of Management Review*, *36*(2), 236–246.

- Tein, J. Y., Coxe, S., & Cham, H. (2013). Statistical power to detect the correct number of classes in latent profile analysis. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 20(4), 640-657. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2013.824781
- Thiem, A. (2016). Standards of good practice and the methodology of necessary conditions in Qualitative Comparative Analysis. *Political Analysis*, 24(4), 478-484. doi: 10.1093/pan/mpw024
- Thiem, A., & Baumgartner, M. (2016). Back to square one: A reply to Munck, Paine, and Schneider. *Comparative Political Studies*, 49(6), 801-806. doi: 10.1177/0010414015626455
- Thiem, A., Baumgartner, M., & Bol, D. (2016). Still lost in translation! A correction of three misunderstandings between configurational comparativists and regressional analysts. *Comparative Political Studies*, 49(6), 742-774. doi: 10.1177/0010414014565892
- Tho, N. D., & Trang, N. T. M. (2015). Can knowledge be transferred from business schools to business organizations through in-service training students? SEM and fsQCA findings. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(6), 1332-1340. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.12.003
- Thomann, E. (2015). Is output performance all about the resources? A fuzzy-set qualitative comparative analysis of street-level bureaucrats in Switzerland. *Public Administration*, 93(1), 177-194. doi: 10.1111/padm.12130
- Veríssimo, J. M. C. (2016). Enablers and restrictors of mobile banking app use: A fuzzy set qualitative comparative analysis (fsQCA). *Journal of Business Research*, 69(11), 5456-5460. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.155
- Vis, B. (2012). The comparative advantages of fsQCA and regression analysis for moderately large-N analyses. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 41(1), 168-198. doi: 10.1177/0049124112442142
- Weber, M. (1922[1978]). Economy and society: An outline of interpretive sociology.Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Weiner, B. J. (2009). A theory of organizational readiness for change. *Implement Science*, 4(1), 1–9. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-67
- Whittington, J. L., McKee, V., Goodwin, V. L., & Bell, R. G. (2013). Chapter 12 Applying fuzzy set methodology to evaluate substitutes for leadership. In P. C. Fiss, B. Cambré, & A. Marx (Eds.), *Research in the Sociology of Organisations Volume 38* (pp. 279–

302). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. doi: 10.1108/S0733-558X(2013)0000038016

- Woodside, A. G. (2013). Moving beyond multiple regression analysis to algorithms: Calling for adoption of a paradigm shift from symmetric to asymmetric thinking in data analysis and crafting theory. *Journal of Business Research*, 4(66), 463-472. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.12.021
- Woodside, A. G. (2016). Embrace Complexity Theory, Perform Contrarian Case Analysis, and Model Multiple Realities. In A. G. Woodside (Ed.), *Bad to Good: Achieving High Quality and Impact in Your Research* (pp. 57-81). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. doi: 10.1108/978-1-78635-334-420161003
- Woodside, A. G., Prentice, C., & Larsen, A. (2015). Revisiting problem gamblers' harsh gaze on casino services: Applying complexity theory to identify exceptional customers. *Psychology & Marketing*, 32(1), 65-77. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.10.134
- Xie, X., Jia, Y. (2016). Consumer Involvement in New Product Development: A Case Study from the Online Virtual Community. *Psychology & Marketing*, 33(12), 1187-1194. doi: 10.1002/mar.20956